
 

 

 
 
 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
 
Tuesday 27 October 2015 at 10.00 am 
 
To be held at the Town Hall, Pinstone 
Street, Sheffield, S1 2HH 

 
The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership 
  

Councillors Geoff Smith (Chair), Josie Paszek and Vickie Priestley  
Zoe Sykes (Reserve) 
 
 

  

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING 

 
The Licensing Committee carries out a statutory licensing role, including licensing for 
taxis and public entertainment.  
 
As a lot of the work of this Committee deals with individual cases, some meetings 
may not be open to members of the public.   
 
Recording is allowed at Licensing Committee meetings under the direction of the 
Chair of the meeting.  Please see the website or contact Democratic Services for 
details of the Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at council 
meetings. 
 
A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council’s website at 
www.sheffield.gov.uk. You can also see the reports to be discussed at the meeting if 
you call at the First Point Reception, Town Hall, Pinstone Street entrance.  The 
Reception is open between 9.00 am and 5.00 pm, Monday to Thursday and between 
9.00 am and 4.45 pm. on Friday.   
 
You may not be allowed to see some reports because they contain confidential 
information.  These items are usually marked * on the agenda.  
 
If you require any further information please contact Harry Clarke on 0114 273 6183 
or email harry.clarke@sheffield.gov.uk. 
 
 

FACILITIES 

 
There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall.  Induction loop facilities are available in meeting rooms. 
 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 
 



 

 

 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE AGENDA 
27 OCTOBER 2015 

 
Order of Business 

 
1. Welcome and Housekeeping Arrangements 

 
2. Apologies for Absence 
 
3. Exclusion of Public and Press 
 To identify items where resolutions may be moved to exclude the press and 

public 
 
4. Declarations of Interest 
 Members to declare any interests they have in the business to be considered 

at the meeting 
 
5. Commons Act 2006 - Application to Register "Smithy Wood" as  Town 

or Village Green 
 Report of the Chief Licensing Officer 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

 
If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of 
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:  
 

• participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business, or  

• participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.  

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 

You must: 
 

• leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct) 

• make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at any 
meeting at which you are present at which an item of business which affects or 
relates to the subject matter of that interest is under consideration, at or before 
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent. 

• declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer within 28 
days, if the DPI is not already registered. 

 
If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable 
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if 
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.  
 

• Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain, 
which you, or your spouse or civil partner undertakes. 
 

• Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your 
council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of 
any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 
*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you tell the 
Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 

• Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or 
a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial 
interest) and your council or authority –  
 
- under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and  
- which has not been fully discharged. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



 2

 

• Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, 
have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

 

• Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a month 
or longer. 
 

• Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) – 
- the landlord is your council or authority; and  
- the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a 

beneficial interest. 
 

• Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in 
securities of a body where -  

 

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
your council or authority; and  
 

(b) either - 
- the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  
- if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 

value of the shares of any one class in which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you 
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to 
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest 
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is 
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; 
accountability; openness; honesty; and leadership).  

You have a personal interest where – 

• a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting 
the well-being or financial standing (including interests in land and easements 
over land) of you or a member of your family or a person or an organisation with 
whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect the 
majority of the Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or 
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s 
administrative area, or 
 

• it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as DPIs but 
are in respect of a member of your family (other than a partner) or a person with 
whom you have a close association. 

 

Page 2



 3

Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the 
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to 
you previously. 
 
You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be 
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to 
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member 
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.  

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours 
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and 
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought.  The Monitoring 
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’s Standards 
Committee in relation to a request for dispensation. 

Further advice can be obtained from Gillian Duckworth, Director of Legal and 
Governance on 0114 2734018 or email gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk. 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



        

 

 

Report of:   Chief Licensing Officer, Head of Licensing on behalf of the  
    Registration Authority 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date:    27th October 2015 – 10am 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject:   Commons Act 2006 
    Application to register land known as ‘Smithy Wood’,   
    Sheffield as a Town or Village Green    
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report:  Shimla Finch - 2734264 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:   To consider an application made under the Commons Act 
     2006 for land known as ‘Smithy Wood’, Sheffield to be  
     registered as a Town or Village Green. 

 
     The Council held a non-statutory public inquiry chaired by  
     an independent Inspector who considered the application  
     and reported to the Council. The Licensing Sub -Committee is  
     invited to consider the report of the independent Inspector  
     and determine whether the above land should be registered as 
     a Town or Village Green.  
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendations:   Members are recommended to accept the recommendations in 

    the Inspector’s report and to determine that the application to 
    register land at ‘Smithy Wood’, Sheffield as a Town and Village 
    Green, be refused, because the applicant has failed to satisfy 
    the statutory criteria contained in section 15(2) of the 2006 Act. 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
Background Papers:   Inspectors Report – attached to this report 
    Bundles provided at the Inquiry will be available for Members 
    at the Town Hall 
    (Any further background papers relating to this report can be 
    inspected by contacting the report writer).   
 

Category of Report: OPEN 

 

SHEFFIELD CITY COUNCIL 

Committee Report 

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



REPORT OF THE CHIEF LICENSING OFFICER, HEAD OF LICENSING TO 
THE LICENSING COMMITTEE (COMMONS REGISTRATION)   
             

Ref: 75/15 

COMMONS ACT 2006 
 
Application to register land known as ‘Smithy Wood’, Sheffield as a Town or Village 
Green 

 
1.0 Purpose of the report 

 
1.1 To consider an application made under the Commons Act 2006 for land known as 

‘Smith Wood’ Sheffield to be registered as a Town or Village Green. 
 

1.2 The Council held a non-statutory public inquiry chaired by an independent Inspector 
who considered the application and reported to the Council.  
 

1.3 The Licensing Sub-Committee is invited to consider the report of the independent 
Inspector Mr Richard Ground, Barrister, Conerstone Barristers and determine 
whether the application satisfies the statutory criteria for registration as Town or 
Village Green and should be included in the register. 
 

2.0  The Legislation 
 
2.1 Town and village greens developed under customary law. These were areas of open 
 space, more commonly called “greens”, which had been used by local people, for 
 lawful sports and other pastimes for many years and which came to be recognised 
 and protected by the courts. These areas of open space might include organised or 
 informal games, picnics, fetes, dog walking and similar activities. 
 
2.2  A green can be in private ownership or owned or maintained by town and parish 
 councils. 
 
2.3 These areas of open space or greens can now be protected by making an application 
 for registration as a “town or village green” under Section 15 of the Commons Act 
 2006 (the “Act”). 
 
2.4  Section 4(1) of the Act provides that applications for registering land as “town or 
 village greens” must be made to Sheffield City Council, who is the Commons 
 Registration Authority (CRA) for any land in their area. 
 
2.5 Section 15(1) of the Act states that ‘any person may apply to the CRA to register land 
 as a “town or village green” provided they can establish one of the following tests, 
 namely: 
 

· that Section 15(2) applies if the land has been used ‘as of right’ for lawful 
sports and pastimes for 20 years or more before the date the application is 
made, and this use continues at the date of the application; or 

 

· that Section 15(3) applies where the land has been used for lawful sports and 
pastimes ‘as of right’ for 20 years or more, where the use ended after 6 April 
2007, no more than one year before the date of the application, or  

 

Page 6



· that Section 15(4) applies where the land has been used for lawful sports and 
pastimes ‘as of right’ for 20 years and has ended before 6 April 2007. Further, 
the application must be made within five years of the date the use ‘as of right’ 
ended. 

 
2.6  Whether the application is made under Sections 15(2), 15(3) or 15(4) the application 
 must show that a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality of any 
 neighbourhood within a locality have indulged in lawful sports or pastimes ‘as of right’ 
 (i.e. without permission, force or secrecy) on the land for at least 20 years, rather 
 than ‘by right’ (i.e. in exercise of a legal right to do so). These requirements reflect the 
 ancient law of custom, where long use ‘as of right’ created a presumption that the 
 local inhabitants had established recreational rights over the land in question. 
 
2.7  Section 15(6) of the Act makes it clear that in determining the 20 year period, there 
 is to be disregarded any period during which access to the land was prohibited to 
 members of the public by reason of any enactment. 
 
2.8  Furthermore, Section 15(7) of the Act provided that in respect of subsection (2)(b) 
 that –  
 

(a) where persons indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes immediately 
before access to the land is prohibited (as specified in subsection 6 above), 
those persons are to be regarded as continuing so to indulge; and 

 
(b) where permission is granted in respect of use of the land for the purposes of 

lawful sports and pastimes, the permission is to be disregarded in determining 
whether persons continue to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes on the land 
“as of right”. 

 
2.9  The current application has been made under Section 15(2). 
 
3.0 Background  

 
3.1 The Council received an application to register land known as ‘Smithy Wood’, 

Sheffield as a town/village green on the 14th November 2013. The original application 
Form 44 and plan is attached at Appendix ‘A’.   

  
3.2 On the 25th September 2014, the Licensing Sub-Committee (Commons Registration) 

considered a report concerning the above application and determined that in view of 
all the circumstances outlined, a non-statutory public inquiry should be held with a 
view to undertaking a further and more detailed examination of the issues raised and 
evidence submitted by the applicant and the objectors. 

 
3.3 Mr Richard Ground, a barrister with experience of village green registration matters, 

was appointed as Inspector in relation to the non-statutory public inquiry and to 
produce and report with recommendations. The inquiry was held over five days, 
namely between 14th, 15th, 16th, 17th and 23rd April 2015. 

 
3.4 The applicant and objectors were informed of the non-statutory public inquiry.   
 
3.5 The full report of the Inspector is attached at Appendix ‘B’. The report sets out the 

law; the evidence heard and recommendations. 
 
3.6 The Inspectors report was circulated to the applicant and objectors for any 

comments. Minor amendments have been made to the report following the objector’s Page 7



comments which are incorporated in the report attached at Appendix ‘B’. A copy of 
the objectors and applicants comments are attached at Appendix ‘C’. 

 
3.7 The Inspector has provided a response to the applicant’s comments which are at 

Appendix ‘D’ and concludes that the comments have not changed the finding of his 
report. 

 
3.8 Members determining this application have been provided access to bundles of the 

Public Inquiry including closing submissions. 
 
3.9 The Council cannot delegate the decision making process to the independent 

Inspector as the decision is for the Council and under part 3 of the Council’s 
Constitution the function of the Licensing Sub-Committee (Commons Registration) 
include determining village green applications. It should be emphasised that the 
Inspector’s recommendations are not binding on the Sub-Committee, and the Sub-
Committee must consider the Inspectors report and decide whether it agrees with the 
Inspector’s conclusions on the key issues. However where the Sub-Committee 
decided not to follow the report’s  recommendations it would need to provide detailed 
reasons for not doing so. 

 
4.0 The Inspector’s Report 
 
4.0.1 In the report the Inspector makes clear that the burden of proof of satisfying each 

element of the statutory criteria rests with the Applicant. 
 
4.0.2 The application seeks the registration of the Land by virtue of the operation of section 

15(2) of the 2006 Act. Under that provision, land is to be registered as a town or 
village green where:- 

 
 “(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood 
  within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the 
  land for a period of at least 20 years; and 
 
  (b)     they continue to do so at the time of the application.” 
 
4.0.3 The Inspector has indicated the following issues to be critical in this case: 
  

i) The meaning of locality and neighbourhood within a locality. 
ii) The test for the quality of user required to satisfy the statutory test. 
iii) The meaning of significant number 

 
4.0.4 The inspector also makes clear that there is no dispute with the relevant period in this 
 case, the relevant period being 14th November 1993 to 14th November 2013.  
 
4.1 Locality and Neighbourhood 
 
4.1.1 The inspector has detailed in paragraph 5 of his report the law relating to locality and 

neighbourhood and how it applies to this case. 
 
4.1.2 The inspector is satisfied on the basis of evidence provided and application of the law 

that the applicant can rely on the ‘Civil Parish of Ecclesfield’ being a ‘locality’. 
 
4.1.3 Paragraphs 5.17 to 5.23 of the Inspectors report details the criteria of a 

‘neighbourhood’ and has accepted that ‘Cowley Estate’ is a ‘neighbourhood’ within 
the ‘locality’ of the ‘Civil Parish of Ecclesfield’. Page 8



4.2 Lawful Sports and Pastimes 
 
4.2.1 The Inspector considered in detail, with reference to relevant case, the use of the 

land and in particular footpath use. A central issue was whether the evidence of 
footpath use constitutes the assertion of a public right-of-way against an assertion of 
a right to use the land for lawful sport and pastimes. Where the use asserts a public 
right of way this use may be discounted when deciding the issue of whether a 
significant number of inhabitants of a locality have indulged as a right in lawful sports 
and pastimes. 

 
4.2.2 The inspector has discussed the distinction between lawful sports and pastimes and 

footpath use through paragraph 6.2 to 6.30 of his report whilst applying the law to this 
case. 

 
4.2.3 The Inspector concluded that the vast majority of the use of the land was footpath 

use and should be discounted before considering whether there are a significant 
number of users or a sufficient quality of user. 

 
4.3  Significant Number and Quality of User 
 
4.3.1  The law on significant number and the test for the quality of user has been applied to 
  the facts of this case in paragraphs 7 to 7.17 of the Inspectors report. 
 
4.3.2 . The Inspector, when considering all the evidence, did not consider the use of  
  Smithy Wood was very great. At paragraphs 7.6 -7.10, he details the issues that led 
  him to this conclusion. He further advised that when the non-neighbourhood use,  
  footpath type use and none legal use is stripped out, what is left is trivial and  
  sporadic and not significant in number.  
 
4.3.3  He went on include that the use of Smithy Wood was insufficient to indicate that it 
  was in general use by the local community for informal recreation. The use was not 
  such an amount or in such a manner, as would reasonably be regarded as the  
  assertion of a public right. Therefore the use fails the test for significant number in 
  section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. 
 
5.0 Inspectors Conclusion and Recommendation 
 
5.1 The Inspector recommends to the Registration Authority to refuse this application for 

a village green on the basis that the use has not been by a significant number of 
inhabitants of the neighbourhood and is insufficient to pass the test set out in Redcar 
(R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2010] 2 AC 70).  

 
5.2 The Inspector also takes the view that Cowley Estate is a neighbourhood within a 

locality within the meaning of section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. 
 
6.0 Legal Implications  
 
6.1  The Council must determine the application in accordance with the statutory criteria, 

set out in paragraph 2 of this report. The Sub-Committee are required to carefully 
consider the report of the Independent Inspector which sets out the law, the evidence 
and his recommendations and the Sub-Committee must determine the application.  
As discussed elsewhere in this report, the Sub-Committee must decide the 
application themselves and are not bound by the inspector’s recommendations.    

 

Page 9



6.2 This is a quasi-judicial process and consequently Members sitting on the Sub-
Committee must consider whether they have an interest that should be declared and 
where an interest is declared, consideration must be given as to whether they may 
take part in the decision making process.  

  
6.3 Registration of the village green does not place the Council under any duty to 

maintain it. 
 
7.0 Risk Management  
 
7.1 There is no right of appeal against the Council’s decision but interested parties could 

challenge the decision by applying for Judicial Review.  A failure to determine the 
application in accordance with the law or at all will leave the Council exposed to a 
Judicial Review or a claim of maladministration by the Local Government 
Ombudsman. 

 
8.0 Financial Implications 
  
8.1 Significant costs have been incurred in undertaking the Independent Public Inquiry. 
 
8.2 Members should note that if an interested party challenges the Sub-Committee’s 

decision legal costs, which may be significant, may be incurred by the Council. 
 
10. Recommendation 
 
10.1 Members are recommended to accept the recommendations in the Inspector’s report 

and to determine that the application to register land at ‘Smithy Wood’, Sheffield as a 
Town and Village Green, be refused, because the applicant has failed to satisfy the 
statutory criteria contained in section 15(2) of the 2006 Act. 

 
11. Options Open to the Commons Registration Board 
 
11.1 Accept the Inspectors recommendations and refuse the application. 
 
11.2 Not accept the Inspectors recommendations and grant the application in full or in part 

and register the land as a Town or Village Green. 
 
Stephen Lonnia, 
Chief Licensing Officer 
Head of Licensing  
Business Strategy and Regulation 
Place Portfolio 
Block C, Staniforth Road Depot 
Sheffield, S9 3HD.        16th September 2016 

 
 

  

Page 10



Appendix ‘A’ 
 

Application and Plan 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 11



 

Page 12



 

Page 13



 

Page 14



 

 

Page 15



 

 

Page 16



 

 

Page 17



 

 

Page 18



 

 

Page 19



 

 

Page 20



 

Page 21



 

 Page 22



 

 

Page 23



 

 

Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Appendix ‘C’ 
 

Objectors and Applicants Comments 
 
 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 131



OBJECTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS ON THE REPORT OF INSPECTOR RICHARD 

GROUND DATED 14 JULY 2015 REGARDING SMITHY WOOD VILLAGE GREEN 

APPLICATION  

 

1.  Paragraph 6.15 on page 94 - Mr Ground attributes Dr Perring as stating that: "there are a 

dozen or so footpaths going through the woods."  

In fact Dr Perring only refers to this in examination in chief at paragraph 2.171 on page 24. 

There was no reference in cross-examination which was extremely brief. 

 

2.  Paragraph 6.27 on page 23 - Mr Ground attributes Mrs Williams to stating that she "wandered 

off the path sometimes but the majority of time she would be on the path".  

Mrs Williams does not mention this. Mrs Howe actually states this in evidence in chief at 

paragraph 2.279 on page 39 and paragraph 2.290 on page 40. 

  

3.  Paragraph 6.30 on page 96 - Mr Ground states that: "Mr Newton' evidence was that he saw 

the evidence of track having been made that looked like being made by foot."  

There is nothing in the evidence for Mr Newton or any other witness within the report that 

specifically states this. Mr Newton does say at paragraph 3.88 (page 70) that "there are 

clearly defined paths". Dr Perring in her evidence at paragraph 2.160 on page 23 does state 

that there were tracks of others walking. At paragraph 2.307 on page 43 Mr Newton Smith 

states that on the west side there was a well-worn track. 

  

4.  Paragraph  vii) page 101 - Mr Ground states that: "Dr Perring for example spoke of leaf mould 

being on the paths and that some of them being made by one or two people." 

Mr Ground in the footnote attached to this paragraph states that the information came from 

the last answers in re-examination of Dr Perring. There was no re-examination of this witness. 

Dr Perring refers to leaf mould on the paths in examination in chief at paragraph 2.170 

on  page 24. Mr Harrison then refers to some paths being made by one or two people in re-

examination at paragraph 2.149 on page 22. 

28 July 2015 

DLA PIPER UK LLP 

 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 132



31.7.15 

 Application Number 2013/VG02  

Smithy Wood Village Green Report 

Reply to Inspectors Report 

Dear Claire, 

We as a group do not agree with the recommendations by the inspector, as we believe that he has 

misinterpreted certain important aspects of the law, and that our original arguments in response to 

the Objector on these issues have been disregarded. We do not agree that he could reasonably draw 

the conclusion he did, when government guidance and case law suggest otherwise. We reiterate our 

position on the following issues: 

1. The land does not have to be used in its entirety. 

Defra guidance in paragraph 8.10.62 states: 

 

“Another question raised in the Trap Grounds case was whether land can qualify for registration as a 

green even if some of it was inaccessible throughout all or part of the relevant period. The court was 

asked whether land could have become a green even though by reason of impenetrable growth only 

25% of it was accessible for walkers. The inspector had advised that it could; recreational use of 

tracks, glades and clearings could amount to recreational use of the land viewed as a whole.  

 

In the High Court, Lightman J refused to do any more than give guidance “of the broadest kind”. He 

agreed that the existence of inaccessible areas did not preclude land being held to be a green, and 

pointed out that such areas might form part of the scenic attraction and might even themselves 

provide recreational opportunities. For example, a pond could be used for feeding ducks or sailing 

model boats.  

 

Overgrown areas might provide a habitat for wildlife to the benefit of bird watchers and others 

interested in nature observation. The question whether land could properly be described, viewed 

as a whole, as having been used for recreation notwithstanding the inaccessibility of parts was to 

be approached in a common sense rather than a mathematical way. However, a registration 

Page 133



authority should not strain its finding of fact on that question, and did not need to do so, having 

regard to the availability of power to register a part or parts of a claimed green." 

 

And in 8.10.63  

 

"In the House of Lords, Lord Hoffmann said he was very reluctant to express a view on the 

inspector’s conclusions without inspecting or at least seeing photographs of the site, but agreed that 

in principle it was unnecessary for users to have set foot on every part (or even the majority) of 

the land included in an application." 

 

2. A “significant number” does not have to be entirely from the estate. 

Quote "In the McAlpine Homes case the High Court provided some useful guidance about what ‘a 

significant number’ might mean. The court did not accept that the expression was synonymous with 

a considerable, or a substantial, number. The reason given was that a neighbourhood might have a 

very limited population, and a significant number of its inhabitants might not be capable of being 

described as considerable or substantial." 

 

"Whether the evidence shows that a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality or 

neighbourhood within a locality used the land for informal recreation is, according to the court, very 

much a matter of impression. The key question is whether the number of inhabitants using the land 

was sufficient to signify that it was in general use by the local community (i.e. the inhabitants of the 

relevant locality or neighbourhood) for informal recreation, rather than occasional use by individual 

trespassers." 

 

3. We believe that there has been a misinterpretation of the definition of a public right of way 

and the use of footpaths as part of recreation, and that its application to our use is incorrect. 

Common law has established that a highway is a defined route over which "the public at large" can 

pass and repass as frequently as they wish, without hindrance and without charge. The common law 

defined three categories of highway:  

 Footpath, Bridleway, and Carriageway. 

 

 

Page 134



 Footpath 

A footpath is a way over which the public has a right of way on foot only and which is not a footway 

(section 66, WCA 1981). 

Right of way 

Defined as an Easement, a privilege to pass over the land of another, whereby the holder of the 

easement acquires only a reasonable and usual enjoyment of the property, and the owner of the 

land retains the benefits and privileges of ownership consistent with the easement. 

n.  

1) a pathway or road with a specific description (e.g. "right to access and egress 20 feet wide along 

the northern line of Lot 7 of the Cobb subdivision in page 75 of maps").  

2) the right to cross property to go to and from another parcel. The right of way may be a specific 

grant of land or an "easement," which is a right to pass across another's land. The mere right to 

cross without a specific description is a "floating" easement. Some rights of way are for limited use 

such as repair of electric lines or for deliveries to the back door of a store. Railroads own title to a 

right of way upon which to build permanent tracks.  

Floating easement 

n. an easement (a right to use another's property for a particular purpose) which allows access 

and/or egress but does not spell out the exact dimensions and location of the easement. 

To a large extent, the phrase public right of way is interchangeable with highway, but public right of 

way tends to be used to refer to the minor ways required to be shown on a definitive map, so 

Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted byway and Byway open to all traffic (BOAT). In general terms the 

public are allowed to pass and re-pass as a genuine traveller, and undertake closely allied activities 

such as stopping to rest or look at views. The public have no right to undertake unrelated activities 

such as metal-detecting or flying model aircraft, den building, bicycle riding, or other recreational 

activities.  

Riding of motorbikes on footpaths is a criminal offence if done without lawful authority, which may 

be the landowner's permission, and even with permission it can still be an offence if motorbikes are 

ridden inconsiderately or cause damage.  Based on the testimony from all concerned, if the paths 

used by local people for recreation were indeed being used in accordance with the legal definition of 

a footpath, as interpreted by the inspector, then the land owner was knowingly allowing a criminal 

offence to be committed. 

Page 135



The number and use of ‘footpaths’ and tracks show that the woodland has been well used by local 

people. While some people may have remained on the paths, their use of them was not merely to 

transit from one side of the woodland to another, that is to say, as a traveller to transition from 

point A to point B on their way to somewhere else, as one would if using the footpath in the context 

of a public right of way. Their use of footpaths and tracks was part of their recreational use of the 

woodland. 

 

Provision is made under the Highways Act 1980 and the Commons Act 2006 for landowners to 

submit  a  Statement  to  their  local  Council  setting  out  where  any  public  rights  already  exist  

and making a declaration that they do not want to see any further rights created. 

 

The inspector describes the need to consider what a reasonable landowner would have thought 

upon observing the myriad of footpaths and tracks within the woodland. The land owner in this case 

said that he had seen the tracks and had considered the possibility of a public right of way arising, 

but that he was not concerned about that. It begs the question why the landowner did not 

reasonably consider the possibility of other rights being established. To suggest that any reasonable 

person would not consider the possibility of further rights arising under these circumstances, is to 

our minds not reasonable at all.  

 

It is a question that we do not feel was given adequate consideration by the inspector, especially 

since there was also evidence over the years of den building and rope swings, consistent with use by 

children. The reasonable assumption could not have been that individuals were occasionally 

trespassing in order to transit through the woodland to other places – as would be consistent with 

the legal definition of footpath use.  Local people have testified that their use of paths and tracks 

was part of and facilitated their enjoyment of the woodland. 

 

It should be remembered that this woodland is not typical of historical village greens, and does not 

consist of grass or grassland where all or most parts are accessible. 

 

We believe that the inspector’s interpretation on the law regarding these issues is mistaken and 

incorrectly applied, and if appropriate, we would appreciate it if you could bring this to his attention 

for further consideration. We look forward to hearing your reply. 

 

Regards, 

 

Jean Howe (CRAG) 

Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140


	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	5 Commons Act 2006 - Application to Register "Smithy Wood" as  Town or Village Green
	2  Appendix B
	3  Appendix C
	4  Appendix D


